A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Cole Rife, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court

to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review

designated in Part B of this petition pursuant to RAP 13. 3 and RAP

13. 4. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Rife seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision dated

June 1, a copy of which is attached as Appendix A. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The trial court told Mr. Rife at sentencing that had he

any alternative" other than to be the judge presiding over the case, he

would not have chosen to do so. The trial court had a familiar

relationship with Mr. Rife' s family which violated the appearance of

fairness doctrine. Was Mr. Rife' s right a fair trial violated when the

trial judge failed to abide by the Canon of Judicial Conduct' s

requirement of recusal? 

2. The evidence established no assault took place until after

Mr. Rife had left the building at 512 Maple. Did the State fail to

establish Mr. Rife committed the crime of attempted burglary in the

first degree when the evidence established Mr. Rife only intended to
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engage in assaultive behavior in front of the building after he had

lawfully left the building at 512 Maple Street? 

Misconduct occurs where a prosecutor fails to act as a

quasi-judicial officer acting impartially and only in the interest of

justice. The State committed misconduct by asking a witness to judge

the credibility of another; diminishing the responsibility felt by the

jurors for their actions by suggesting Mr. Rife was not facing a prison

sentence; and by shifting the burden ofproof, improperly vouching for

the credibility of a witness and denigrating Mr. Rife' s attorney by

arguing another attorney would have advised him to plead guilty. Do

these individual instances ofmisconduct or their cumulative effect

require a new trial? 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The trial judge recognized it had violated the appearance of
fairness doctrine by presiding over Mr. Rife s trial because
ofthe long timefamiliar relationship the judge had with Mr. 
Rife sfamily. 

At Cole Rife' s sentencing for attempted burglary in the first

degree and assault in the second degree, the court declared "[ H] ad I any

alternative other than to be the judge presiding over this case, I would

not have chosen to do it." 7/ 17/ 2014 RP 18.' The judge disclosed that

by the time that I realized just exactly who this defendant was, none of

the other judges were available to do the trial." 7/ 17/ 2014 RP 18. 

The trial court judge had been very close to Mr. Rife' s family

for a number of years. The judge had presided over his parent' s

wedding, vacationed with his grandparents in Hawaii and still got his

hair cut by Mr. Rife' s aunt. 1 RP 17, 18, 19. The trial judge disclosed

this relationship prior to trial, but neither party asked the court to recuse

itself. 1 RP 22. 

The vcrbatim rcport of procccdings contains six volumcs. Thrcc volumcs arc

consccutivcly paginatcd. Thcsc volumcs will be rcfcrrcd to by the volumc on thcir covcr
pagc. Volumc 4 rcfcrs to hcarings which occurrcd on July 17, 2014 ( Trial Confirmation) 
and August 27, 2014 ( Scntcncc hcaring). Volumc 5 rcfcrs to July 21, 2014 ( Voir Dirc). 
Volumc 6 rcfcrs to July 21, 2014 ( Opcning Statcmcnts). Rcfcrcnccs to Volumc 4- 6 will
be listcd by datc of procccdings rathcr than volumc numbcr, i. c., 7/ 21/ 2014. 
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The Court of Appeals declined to address this issue, finding it

unpreserved. 

2. The State failed to present evidence Mr. Rife attempted to

commit a crime within a building. 

Mr. Rife was convicted of assault and attempted burglary for a

fight he had outside a party at 512 E. Maple Street in Centralia, 

Washington. CP 65- 69. A number of students on the baseball team

were holding a party when Mr. Rife and his friends came to pick up one

of their girlfriends. 1 RP 62. They went into the house but left when

asked to do so. 1 RP 89. No illegal conduct was ever alleged within the

building. 1 RP 89. The evidence established Mr. Rife went into the

residence. 1 RP 95. They left with his friends when asked. 1 RP 95. No

other evidence contradicted this. 

Mr. Rife began having words with Connor Atchison once they

were outside. 1 RP 136. Mr. Rife asked Mr. Atchison to " Come outside

and fight me." 1 RP 136. A fight then broke out between Mr. Rife and

Logan Crump, who suffered a broken jaw and tooth as a result. 1 RP

69. This all occurred outside. 

Mr. Rife never returned to the house after the fight or attempted

to engage others within the house. Witnesses did observe others

attempting to get into the house after the altercation started, but the
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evidence established the persons attempting to get back into the house

after the fight started were trying to help Mr. Crump, who had been

injured. 1 RP 101, 1 RP 142, 1 RP 198. They were not attempting to

enter the house to commit a crime. 

3. The prosecutor committed misconduct during cross
examination and closing arguments. 

a. The first question asked by prosecutor during Mr. 
Rife' s case required the witness to judge
credibility of other witnesses. 

Mr. Rife' s first witness was his brother Bo Rife. Bo Rife

testified about what he saw when the fight occurred and was called to

establish self-defense. In the first question to Bo Rife, the State asked

him to compare his testimony to others, asking him "Are you sure you

were at 512 Maple? You seem to have seen something that no one else

saw." 2 RP 233. 

Mr. Rife objection to this improper question was sustained, but

no curative instruction was given. The Court of Appeals found this

misconduct to be harmless because it did not show there was a

substantial likelihood of it affecting the jury' s verdict. 
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b. The prosecutor diminished the seriousness of the

punishment Mr. Rife was facing_ 

During the cross examination of Mr. Tyler Burk, the State' s

cooperating witness, defense counsel asked the cooperating witness

what kind of time he was looking at?" He replied " I'm not sure

exactly what the maximum is." Mr. Rife' s attorney then asked " Years

in prison?" 1 RP 98. In objecting to this question, the prosecutor

declared in front of the jury, "Mr. Groberg obviously knows that' s not

what is a possibility in a crime like this, and to ask that question, I

don' t know if that' s going to entitle the State to -- he' s talked about

years in prison." 1 RP 98. Mr. Burk had originally been charged along

with Mr. Rife, but had pled guilty to residential burglary, which is a

class B felony, a felony with a statutory maximum of ten years. 

The Court of Appeals found this was not misconduct because

the standard range for the residential burglary charge the cooperating

witness pled to did not exceed one year. 

c. The prosecutor shifted the burden, improperly
vouched for a witness, and impugned the role of

defense counsel in closing arguments. 

In his rebuttal, the prosecutor said: " Why did Ty Burk take a

deal? Because [ Burk is] just as guilty as [ Rife] is. That' s why [Burk] 

took a deal. Because he' s an accomplice to [ Rife' s] actions. That' s why
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an attorney advised him to take a deal." 3 RP at 474. There was no

objection from Mr. Rife' s counsel. 

The Court of Appeals found Mr. Rife waived this claim because

Mr. Rife' s lawyer did not object and had there been a curative

instruction, any potential prejudice could have been cured. 
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E. ARGUMENT

1. Cole Rife' s due process right to a fair and unbiased

tribunal was violated when the court failed to recuse

itself after it disclosed a long and familiar relationship
with Mr. Rife' s family. 

a. The trial court violated the appearance of'fairness
doctrine. 

Before imposing sentence, the court declared "[ H] ad I any

alternative other than to be the judge presiding over this case, I would

not have chosen to do it." 7/ 17/ 2014 RP 18. The judge disclosed that

by the time that I realized just exactly who this defendant was, none of

the other judges were available to do the trial." 7/ 17/ 2014 RP 18. 

The trial court violated Mr. Rife' s due process right to appear

before a fair tribunal when it failed to recuse itself. After the court

declared it should not have heard Mr. Rife' s case because of the

relationship it had with Mr. Rife' s family, the court made clear it had

violated the appearance of fairness doctrine and had violated Mr. Rife' s

due process rights by hearing his trial. While the Court of Appeals does

not reach this issue because it found it was not preserved, this Court

should accept review. 

The right to a fair tribunal is a basic tenant of due process. In re

Murchison, 349 U. S. 133, 136 ( 1955); U. S. Const. amend. XIV. "Next



in importance to rendering a righteous judgment is that it be

accomplished in such a manner that it will cause no reasonable

questioning of the fairness and impartiality of the judge." State v. 

Madry, 8 Wn. App. 61, 70, 504 P. 2d 1156 ( 1972); see also CJC Canon

2. 11. 

This rule requires judges to disqualify themselves where their

impartiality might reasonably be questioned. Diimmel v. Camphell, 68

Wn.2d 697, 699, 414 P.2d 1022 ( 1966). Waiver is not allowed for cases

ofpersonal or actual bias. In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Jones, 

182 Wn.2d 17, 42, 338 P. 3d 842 ( 2014). " It is incumbent upon

members of the judiciary to avoid even a cause for suspicion of

irregularity in the discharge of their duties." Diimmel, 68 Wn.2d at 699. 

Where a trial judge' s decisions are tainted by even a mere suspicion of

partiality, the effect on the public' s confidence in our judicial system

can be debilitating." Sherman v. State, 128 Wn.2d 164, 205, 905 P. 2d

355 ( 1995). 

The appearance of fairness doctrine allows judges to avoid

having to determine whether they have actual bias and prevents them

from acting on biases they may not recognize. " People believe they are

objective, see themselves as more ethical and fair than others, and
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experience a ` bias blind spot,' the tendency to see bias in others but not

in themselves.... These tendencies make it difficult for judges to

identify their own biases." Jennifer Robbennolt & Matthew Taksin, 

Can Judges Determine Their Own Impartiality?, 41 Monitor on

Psychol. 24, 24 ( 2010). Judicial perceptions of their own impartiality

also suffer from the failure to acknowledge the existence of

unconscious motivations. Debra Lyn Bassett & Rex R. Perschbacher, 

The Elusive Goal ofImpartiality, 97 Iowa L. Rev. 181 ( 2011); see

generally Jeffrey J. Rachlinski, Heuristics and Biases in the Courts: 

Ignorance or Adaptation?, 79 Or. L. Rev. 61 ( 2000) ( noting judges are

susceptible to various biases). The existence of unconscious

motivations means honest and well- intentioned judges cannot

necessarily trust in their own subjective belief they are and will remain

impartial. Bassett, 97 Iowa L. Rev. at 207. 

Unless a reasonably prudent and disinterested person would

conclude all parties obtained a fair, impartial, and neutral hearing, 

recusal is required. Tatham v. Rogers, 170 Wn. App. 76, 96, 283 P. 3d

583 ( 2012). " Fairness of course requires an absence of actual bias in the

trial of cases. But our system of law has always endeavored to prevent
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even the probability of unfairness." Madry, 8 Wn. App. at 68, 504 P.2d

1156 ( 1972) ( quoting Murchison, 349 U. S. at 136). 

While the standard for recusal does not require a finding of

actual bias, the court' s statements make clear this was no simple

violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine, but one where there

was actual bias. The trial court declared it should not have heard the

case and had only done so for reasons of expediency. 7/ 17/ 2014 RP 18. 

This is an insufficient excuse for failing to recuse itself. The trial court

should have recused itself when it realized it have violated the

appearance of fairness doctrine. The Court of Appeals should have

addressed this issue to determine whether the violation of Mr. Rife' s

due process rights entitles him to a new trial. 

b. The violation ofMr. Rife s right to afair and
unbiased tribunaljustifies review. 

A violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine raises a

significant question of law under the Washington and federal

constitutions. RAP 13. 4( 3). It also involves an issue of substantial

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP

13. 4( 4). 

The trial judge had hoped he could be fair when he decided to

remain on the case. The court' s statements at sentencing disclose, 
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however, that the court knew its' impartiality would be called into

question. The court stated had it had any other alternative, it would not

have remained on the case. 7/ 17/ 2014 RP 18. It only remained on the

case because of court congestion. 7/ 17/ 2014 RP 18. 

While the Court of Appeals finds this does not meet the

manifest error standard, this Court should take review. Mr. Rife

demonstrated to the Court of Appeals the many ways in which the trial

court' s decisions could be called into question and how they impacted

his right to a fair tribunal. Mr. Rife' s due process rights were violated

and the prejudice that resulted from this violation require a new trial. 
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2. The State failed to prove attempted burglary in the first
degree. 

a. Mr. Rife did not intend to enter a building when he
fought with Crump. 

Mr. Rife never intended to commit a crime inside the building at

512 Maple Street. The evidence established Mr. Rife and his friends

left the building when asked. 1 RP 89, 1 RP 177, 1 RP 195. The fight

between Mr. Rife and Mr. Crump did not begin until well after Mr. 

Rife had left the building. The witnesses to the fight consistently

testified it was only people trying to get help for Mr. Crump who

entered the house after the fight started. 1 RP 101, 1 RP 142, 1 RP 198. 

Due process requires the State to prove all elements of the crime

beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Washington, 135 Wn. App. 42, 48, 

143 P. 3d 606 ( 2006). Intent to commit a crime within a building is an

essential element of burglary in the first degree. RCW 9A.52.020. Even

where there is unlawful conduct within a building, it may not be

sufficient to establish intent. See e.g., State v. Woods, 63 Wn. App. 588, 

592, 821 P.2d 1235 ( 1991). 

While there is no dispute Mr. Rife was involved in a fight at 512

Maple Street, there is insufficient evidence he intended to commit a

crime inside a building. While the evidence established Mr. Rife and
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his friends were not welcome guests at the baseball party, the evidence

also established Mr. Rife and his friends were calm and left the party

when asked. 1 RP 88, 89, 121, 95. 

Mr. Rife did not begin having words with Mr. Reopelle until

after he had left the building. It was at this point he asked Mr. Reopelle

to " Come outside and fight me." 1 RP 136. While a number of

witnesses testified that there was banging on the door after the fight

began, they also testified this was because Mr. Crump was injured and

needed assistance. 1 RP 101, 142, 198. No evidence established Mr. 

Rife ever tried to get back inside the house once the fight began. 

b. The failure to prove an essential element ofattempted
burglary in thefirst degree justifies review. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals to uphold Mr. Rife' s

conviction for attempted burglary in the first degree is in conflict with

the many decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals which

establish the intent to commit a crime within a building is an essential

element of the crime. See, e.g., State v. Allen, 127 Wn. App. 125, 131, 

110 P. 3d 849, 852 ( 2005). 

Mr. Rife left the building at 512 Maple Street when asked. The

Court of Appeals recognized Mr. Rife had a loud conversation with a

women while outside. The fight then took place outside the building. 
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There is no indication Mr. Rife tried to enter the building during or

after the fight. The only people who tried to enter the building after the

fight started tried to enter to help Mr. Crump and not to commit a

This Court should accept review under RAP 13. 4 because this

decision is in conflict with opinions of this court and the Court of

Appeals. RAP 13. 4( 1) and ( 2). 
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3. The State' s flagrant and ill -intentioned misconduct

justifies review. 

The Court of Appeals found the State committed misconduct by

comparing a witness' s testimony to others during cross examination

and by referring to a witnesses' attorney' s advice to plead guilty. The

Court found the State did not commit misconduct by suggesting Mr. 

Rife and the cooperating witness were not facing prison sentences. The

Court found all the misconduct to be harmless, unpreserved or curable

by an instruction. Mr. Rife seeks review under RAP 13. 4. 

a. Asking a witness to judge the credibility ofanother is
misconduct. 

In the first instance the State could question a defense witness, it

asked " Are you sure you were at 512 Maple? You seem to have seen

something that no one else saw." 2 RP 233. In fact, no witness told a

completely consistent story. The credibility of this witness was critical

to Mr. Rife' s case and using his first question to force this witness to

call others liars was incurable misconduct which requires dismissal

under CrR 8. 3. This question forced the witness to comment on the

credibility of the other witnesses and was an improper question. 

Asking a witness to judge the credibility of another witness

invaded the province of the jury. State v. CastenedaPerez, 61
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Wn.App. 354, 363, 810 P. 2d 74, review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1007, 822

P.2d 287 ( 1991). The question of witness credibility was material to the

outcome of Mr. Rife' s case. State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 762

63, 675 P. 2d 1213 ( 1984). Using the first question of the defense case

to force a witness to call the State' s witnesses liars was incurable

misconduct. 

b. Diminishing the punishment Mr. Rife was facing is
misconduct. 

The Court of Appeals found the State did not misrepresent facts

when it suggested the cooperating witness was not facing prison if he

did not plea. This analysis does not take into account what has

happened to Mr. Rife, who has been sentenced to prison. The decision

also fails to account for the fact that all of the charged offenses and the

offense which the cooperating witness pled to were class B felonies, all

of which have a maximum term of ten years. RCW 9A.20. 021. 

The most serious problem with this line of questioning was the

suggestion Mr. Rife was also not facing a prison sentence if convicted. 

It is the prosecutor' s statement that " Mr. Groberg obviously knows

that' s not what is a possibility in a crime like this, and to ask that

question, I don' t know if that' s going to entitle the State to -- he' s

talked about years in prison." 1 RP 98. 
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This statement was made to let the jurors think Mr. Rife was

also not facing prison. It was made to diminish the juror' s personal

responsibility by minimizing the punishment faced by Mr. Rife. 

Caldwell v. Mississippi, 427 U. S. 320, 329- 30, 105 S. Ct. 2633, 86

L.Ed.2d 231 ( 1985). 

c. Shifting the burden, improperly vouchingfor a
witness and impugning the role ofdefense counsel is
misconduct. 

The prosecutor began his rebuttal by arguing " Ty' s just as guilty

as this guy is. That' s why he took a deal. Because he' s an accomplice

to this guy' s actions. That' s why an attorney advised him to take a

deal." 3 RP 474. 

This statement was improper vouching and created incurable

misconduct. See State v. Sargent, 40 Wn.App. 340, 344, 698 P. 2d 598

1985); see also State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699

1984) ( It is impermissible for a prosecutor to express a personal

opinion as to the credibility of a witness of the guilt of a defendant). 

There are no circumstance in which the prosecutor should have

argued Mr. Burk' s lawyer had advised him to plead guilty and this was

proof of Mr. Rife' s guilt as well. This misconduct resulted in improper

vouching, an impermissible shift of the burden and impugned the role

In



and integrity of defense counsel. See State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 

431, 326 P.3d 125 ( 2014). It was not curable by an instruction and

justifies reversal. 

d. The cumulative effect of the States misconduct
justifies review. 

Each incident of misconduct warrants a new trial for Mr. Rife, 

but this Court should also find the cumulative effect of the misconduct

entitles him to a new trial as well. State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 149

P. 3d 646 ( 2006). 

e. The misconduct committed by the prosecutorjustifies
review by this Court. 

As a quasi-judicial officer representing the people of the State, 

a prosecutor has a duty to act impartially in the interest only of justice." 

State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 27, 195 P. 3d 940 ( 2008). A "`[ flair

trial" certainly implies a trial in which the attorney representing the

State does not throw the prestige of his public office ... and the

expression of his own belief of guilt into the scales against the

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