No. 93447-9

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 46638-4-II)

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

COLE RIFE,

Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division Two, And the Superior Court of Lewis County

> JONATHAN MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 35564

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240



## **

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

#### E. ARGUMENT.

The Court of Appeals correctly decided Rife's case. The issue regarding appearance of fairness was not preserved, and even if it was there was no violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine. There was sufficient evidence presented to prove Attempted Frist Degree Burglary. Finally, the Court of Appeals analysis in regards to Rife's assigned prosecutorial error arguments was correct, finding all error either not found, waived, or harmless.

 The Court Of Appeals Decision, Finding Rife Did Not Preserve The Appearance Of Fairness Issue, Does Not Warrant Review, As It Is Not A Significant Issue Of Public Importance, Nor Is It A Significant Question Of Constitutional Law.

In regards to the appearance of fairness issue, the Court of Appeals declined to reach the ultimate issue, finding Rife had not preserved the issue, as he raised no objection at the time Judge Brosey informed the parties he knew Rife's family. See Appendix A, 9-11. The following exchange occurred prior to trial commencing:

THE COURT: All right. There's one other thing that I should say about this case before we proceed any further. I believe, if I'm not mistaken, that I am acquainted with the defendant's family, specifically his mother and his aunt and his grandparents, and have been for many years. It might even be, if I went back far enough, that I may very well have conducted the ceremony when his mother and father were married, if I'm not mistaken. So if that is a problem from the State or the defense -- this is going to be a jury trial, the jury's

going to be making its decision. But if that's a problem, which would lead you to believe that I should not hear this or that you'd prefer I didn't hear this, then I will recuse and allow one of the other judges to hear it. That's something else you can talk with your client about.

MR. McCLAIN: I presume from the Court what you're telling us is you don't believe there's any conflict for yourself.

THE COURT: I don't because it's a jury trial. On the other hand, there's -- it's a relationship I want everyone to be aware of. We're not -- some years back his grandparents and my wife and I were very good friends, very close friends. Vacationed to Hawaii together, did things together. We haven't done that for probably -- it's probably been 15 years now. But his aunt still cuts my hair, among other things.

MR. McCLAIN: Does the Court know Mr. Rife then?

THE COURT: Except by name, no.

MR. McCLAIN: State has no issue, Judge.

MR. GROBERG: I don't think we have an issue, but I'll talk to Mr. Rife.

THE COURT: Go talk to him. Let me know when you're ready to go.

RP 18-19.

Judge Brosey was merely informing the parties of a past relationship he had with family members of Rife. He did not personally know Rife and had no personal relationship with Rife. Further, the relationship was aged, as it had been 15 years since

Judge Brosey had been close with Rife's grandparents. RP 18. The fact that a person in Rife's family cut Judge Brosey's hair is inconsequential and does not create a personal bias or an appearance of fairness issue.

The Court of Appeals decision notes that Rife did not argue the error was a manifest constitutional error, therefore the lack of objection to Judge Brosey's presiding over the jury trial (and later sentencing) may fail to preserve the claim. Appendix A at 10.

The Court of Appeals also correctly noted that the CJC only requires a judge to disqualify himself or herself if they have actual bias or prejudice concerning a party or a party's lawyer. CJC 2.11(A)(1). Judge Brosey did not have personal bias concerning a party. Rife was the party, not his grandparent's. Judge Brosey did not know Rife. Therefore, a judge may permit parties to waive the judicial disqualification for appearance of fairness.

The Court of Appeals decision is an accurate reflection of the state of the law regarding RAP 2.5(a)(3), manifest constitutional error, and the appearance of fairness doctrine. There is no significant issue of Constitutional law. Finally, this is not an issue of significant public importance and therefore, review is not warranted by this Court.

2. There Is No Conflict Between Opinions From This Court Or Other Court Of Appeals Opinions In Regards To The Sufficiency Of Evidence Decision By The Court Of Appeals For Count II: Attempted Burglary In The First Degree.

100

Rife argues this Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). There is no conflict between other courts in the State of Washington and the Court of Appeals decision in Rife's case. It is a sufficiency of evidence determination on an attempted burglary in the first degree. A sufficiency of evidence argument, particularly where the Court of Appeals properly applied the law, is not of substantial public interest.

Rife argues to this Court that there was insufficient evidence to prove Rife had the intent to commit a crime within a building. According to Rife all the unlawful acts, if there were any, took place outside the building. Under Rife's version of the events, the only people who entered the house after the fight began were people attempting to get help for Logan.

Just as he did in his Court of Appeals briefing, Rife has conveniently ignored the testimony of Mr. Burk, Mr. Atchison, Ms. Huff, Mr. Reopelle and Mr. Smolko. RP 96, 137, 151, 164, 174. Rife does not adhear to the well established law that in a sufficiency of evidence challenge Rife "admits the truth of the State's evidence"

and all reasonable inferences therefrom are drawn in favor of the State. *State v. Goodman,* 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.2d 410 (2004). Also, Rife appears to ignore that the role of the reviewing court does not include substituting its judgment for the jury's by reweighing the credibility or importance of the evidence. *State v. Green,* 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). The determination of the credibility of a witness or evidence is solely within the scope of the jury and not subject to review. *State v. Myers,* 133 Wn.2d 26, 38, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997), *citing State v. Camarillo,* 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990).

The State had to prove that Rife, with the intent to commit a crime against persons or property therein, did attempt to enter or remain unlawfully in the building of another, and, in attempting to enter, or while in the building or in immediate flight there in... did assault any person therein. RCW 9A.56.020; RCW 9A.28.020(1); RCW 9A.08.020(2)(c); CP 13, 48-49.

Rife presents one version of the events to this Court. Another version was presented by the witnesses listed above. Rife and his friends showed up to the party looking for a fight. RP 65, 88, 150. They did not just leave when asked. RP 150. Rife and Mr. Burk were trying to kick down the door of the house with Rife, trying to get

inside. RP 96. Mr. Atchison testified that Rife and his friends started kicking the door, telling them to come out and fight, then when they could not get in, he went back and started throwing punches at Logan again. RP 137. Mr. Reopelle's testimony was similar. RP 164.

Rife wanted to enter the house to fight, he attempted to enter the house to fight the occupants, and then assaulted Logan. This is an attempt case, not a completed crime. The evidence presented was sufficient to prove Attempted Burglary in the First Degree. This Court should not accept review.

3. There Was Not Flagrant And Ill-Intentioned Misconduct That Is Of A Substantial Public Interest That Warrants This Court Taking Review.

Rife lastly argues "the State's flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct justifies review" pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), because it is of substantial public interest. Rife incorrectly asserts that the Court of Appeals found the State committed misconduct by comparing a witness's testimony to others during cross-examination and by referring to a witness's attorney's advice to plead guilty. See Appendix A, 18-20. The Court of Appeals did, as Rife states, find all alleged misconduct (prosecutorial error) to be harmless, curable by instruction or unpreserved.

This Court should not review these issues as the Court of Appeals properly analyzed each issue and came to the appropriate result. There was no issue regarding prosecutorial error <sup>3</sup> (misconduct) that warranted reversal, therefore, these issues are not of substantial public interest warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

 The Deputy Prosecutor's misconduct on crossexamination was harmless and does not warrant review.

Contrary to Rife's statement in his briefing, the Court of Appeals did not find the State committed misconduct by comparing Bo Rife's testimony to other witness's testimony. Appendix A, 17-18. The Court of Appeals stated, "[a]ssuming without deciding that this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "'Prosecutorial misconduct' is a term of art but is really a misnomer when applied to mistakes made by the prosecutor during trial." State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 740 n. 1, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). Recognizing that words pregnant with meaning carry repercussions beyond the pale of the case at hand and can undermine the public's confidence in the criminal justice system, both the National District Attorneys Association (NDAA) and the American Bar Association's Criminal Justice Section (ABA) urge courts to limit the use of the phrase "prosecutorial misconduct" for intentional acts, rather than mere trial error. See American Bar Resolution Association 100B (Adopted Aug. http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/migrated/leadership/2010/annual/p dfs/100b.authcheckdam.pdf (last visited Aug. 29, 2014); National District Attorneys Association, Resolution Urging Courts to Use "Error" Instead of "Prosecutorial Misconduct" (Approved April 10 2010). http://www.ndaa.org/pdf/prosecutorial\_misconduct\_final.pdf (last visited Aug. 29, 2014). A number of appellate courts agree that the term "prosecutorial misconduct" is an unfair phrase that should be retired. See, e.g., State v. Fauci, 282 Conn. 23, 917 A.2d 978, 982 n. 2 (2007); State v. Leutschaft, 759 N.W.2d 414, 418 (Minn. App. 2009), review denied, 2009 Minn. LEXIS 196 (Minn., Mar. 17, 2009); Commonwealth v. Tedford, 598 Pa. 639, 960 A.2d 1, 28-29 (Pa. 2008). In responding to appellant's arguments, the State will use the phrase "prosecutorial error." The State will be using this phrase and urges this Court to use the same phrase in its opinions.

was miscounduct, it does not require reversal." *Id.* That being stated, the State conceded it was improper for the deputy prosecutor to ask, "Are you sure you were at 512 Maple? You seem to have seen something that no one else saw?" RP 234. Yet this error was harmless.

Rife had a burden to show the improper comment, which was objected to, and the objection was sustained, was prejudicial within the context of the entire record. *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 442, 258 P.3d 43 (2011); RP 234. The State did not rely on Bo Rife's inconsistent statements during closing. Further, the other witnesses that testified presented consistent testimony that established Rife committed the crimes of Assault in the Second Degree and Attempted Burglary in the Frist Degree. The Court of Appeals decision coming to this result was reasonable and does not warrant review.

b. The State did not diminish the punishment that Rife was facing, there was no misconduct.

The State did not diminish the punishment Rife was facing. First, and foremost, it was Rife's counsel who asked the misleading question to Mr. Burke, "what kind of time" he was "looking at" and then suggested "[y]ears in prison?" RP 98. The State objected and

stated, "Mr. Groberg obviously knows that's [years in prison] is not what is a possibility in a crime like this," *Id*.

Rife argued at the Court of Appeals that the deputy prosecutor's statement was "testifying to facts contrary to the truth" because Mr. Burke was facing the same charges as Rife and therefore, looking at a prison sentence. The Court of Appeals correctly noted, "Rife misrepresents the record." Appendix A, 19. Rife now argues that the problem with "this line of questioning was the suggestion Mr. Rife was also not facing a prison sentence if convicted." Once again, Rife is misrepresenting the facts. The implication from Rife's argument is the State was actively engaging in an improper line of questioning of a witness. The State did not open this door. See RP 98. This was not the State's line of questioning. Rife's attorney was the one questioning Mr. Burk. The State was objecting and made a speaking objection. RP 98.

There was no misrepresentation by the State. There was attempt by Rife to lead Mr. Burk down a path to imply that he and Rife were charged with the same crimes (they were not). There was no attempt by the State to diminish the potential punishment Rife was facing. The deputy prosecutor's objection was not error, and it

certainly was not misconduct. The Court of Appeals decision was correct and this Court should deny review.

c. The State did not improperly comment in closing argument about Mr. Burk's attorney's advice that Mr. Burk should plead guilty.

The deputy prosecutor did not commit error during his rebuttal closing argument when he stated, "Ty's just as guilty as this guy is. That's why he took a deal. Because he's an accomplice to this guy's actions. That's why an attorney advised him to take a deal." RP 474. Rife did not object to this statement. *Id.* Rife contends these comments are improper vouching, burden shifting, and impugns the role of defense counsel.

"[A] prosecutor has wide latitude in closing argument to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence and may freely comment on witness credibility based on the evidence." *State v. Lewis*, 156 Wn. App. 230, 240, 233 P.3d 891 (2010), *citing State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 860, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006). That wide latitude is especially true when the prosecutor, in rebuttal, is addressing an issue raised by a defendant's attorney in closing argument. *Id.* (citation omitted).

Once again, as he did in his initial briefing to the Court of Appeals, Rife conveniently ignores that the deputy prosecutor was

responding to an argument made by Rife's counsel during his closing argument. See RP 471-72. The Court of Appeals did not miss that point. Stating, "during Rife's closing argument, his counsel insinuated that Burk was lying when he downplayed his role in the assault." Appendix A, 19. In direct response to that statement, the Court of Appeals states the deputy prosecutor made the statements in regards to why Mr. Burk took the deal. *Id*.

The State maintains there was no error committed by the deputy prosecutor. As stated, the argument was in direct response to Rife's counsel's argument. It was not improper vouching. The deputy prosecutor did not state his personal belief that Mr. Burk was guilty, or truthful, or that the jury should believe Mr. Burk because the deputy prosecutor did. The evidence showed Mr. Burk admitted he participated in the fight and attempted burglary. RP 96.

There was no improper burden shifting. A prosecutor commits prosecutorial error when he or she shifts the burden of proof onto the accused. *State v. Walker*, 164 Wn. App. 724, 732, 265 P.3d 191 (2011). The deputy prosecutor does not argue there is some evidence which Rife should have produced to show his innocence. The deputy prosecutor does not state that Rife should have pled

guilty. There is nothing here that shifts the burden from the State upon Rife.

The State still cannot figure out how the deputy prosecutor's statements allegedly impugn defense counsel. A deputy prosecutor cannot impugn the integrity or the role of defense counsel. *State v. Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d 423, 431-32, 326 P.3d 125 (2014). There is nothing in the deputy prosecutor's statement that impugns Rife's counsel.

Arguendo, the Court of Appeals properly ruled that because Rife did not object, he waived the claim unless he could show that no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury, and the resulting prejudice was substantially likely to affect the jury's verdict. Appendix A, 20. Rife failed to do so. If this Court were to agree with the Court of Appeals and find the statement improper, an instruction to disregard and a reminder to the jury that the jurors were the sole judges of the witnesses credibility, would have cured any possible prejudice.

#### d. There is no cumulative error.

There is no cumulative effect of the misconduct because as discussed above, the deputy prosecutor did not commit misconduct,

with exception of the cross-examination of Bo Rife, which was

harmless error.

The issues Rife raises in regards to prosecutorial error do not

rise to the level of substantial public interest. They were either

correctly decided by the Court of Appeals or there was no error. This

Court should decline review.

F. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court not accept review

on the issues Rife raises in his petition for review. If this Court were

to accept review, the State would respectfully request an opportunity

to submit supplemental briefing.